LAWSON PRODUCTS INC/NEW/DE/

Form 10-Q October 24, 2013

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D. C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

(Mark One)

ý Quarterly Report under Section 13 OR 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 For quarterly period ended September 30, 2013

"Transition Report under Section 13 OR 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 For the transition period from to

Commission file Number: 0-10546

#### LAWSON PRODUCTS, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 36-2229304
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) Identification No.)

8770 W. Bryn Mawr Avenue, Suite 900, Chicago,

Illinois 60631

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

(773) 304-5050

(Registrant's telephone number, including area code)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes ý No "Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes ý No "

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer" and "smaller reporting company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer "Accelerated filer Someon S

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange

Act). Yes "No ý

The number of shares outstanding of the registrant's common stock, \$1 par value, as of October 15, 2013 was 8,650,919.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART I	- FINANCIAL INFORMATION	Page #
Item 1	Financial Statements	<u>4</u>
	Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2013 (Unaudited) and December 31, 2012	4
	Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 (Unaudited)	<u>5</u>
	Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 (unaudited)	<u>6</u>
	Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)	7
Item 2	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	<u>12</u>
Item 3	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk	<u>18</u>
Item 4	Controls and Procedures	<u>18</u>
PART II	I - OTHER INFORMATION	
Item 6	Exhibits Index	<u>19</u>
SIGNAT	<u>rures</u>	<u>20</u>
2		

#### **Table of Contents**

"Safe Harbor" Statement under the Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995:

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 that involve risks and uncertainties. The terms "may," "should," "could," "anticipate," "believe," "continues," "estimate," "expect," "intend," "objective," "plan," "potential," "project" and similar exprintended to identify forward-looking statements. These statements are not guarantees of future performance and involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions that are difficult to predict. These statements are based on management's current expectations, intentions or beliefs and are subject to a number of factors, assumptions and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those described in the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences or that might otherwise impact the business include:

failure to retain a talented workforce including productive sales representatives;

the inability of management to successfully implement strategic initiatives;

failure to manage change within the organization;

the ability to generate sufficient cash to fund our operating requirements;

the ability to meet the covenant requirements of our line of credit;

disruptions of the Company's information and communication systems;

the effect of general economic and market conditions;

inventory obsolescence;

work stoppages and other disruptions at transportation centers or shipping ports;

changing customer demand and product mixes;

increases in energy and commodity prices;

violations of environmental protection regulations;

a negative outcome related to tax matters; and

all other factors discussed in the Company's "Risk Factors" set forth in its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012.

The Company undertakes no obligation to update any such factors or to publicly announce the results of any revisions to any forward-looking statements contained herein whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

## Table of Contents

## PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

## ITEM 1 - FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Lawson Products, Inc.

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets

(Dollars in thousands, except share data)

ASSETS	September 30, 2013 (Unaudited)	December 31, 2012	
Current assets:			
Cash and cash equivalents	\$418	\$1,640	
Restricted cash	800	_	
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts	32,265	29,451	
Inventories, net	44,509	44,681	
Miscellaneous receivables and prepaid expenses	4,418	5,308	
Deferred income taxes	17	17	
Discontinued operations	9,938	9,232	
Total current assets	92,365	90,329	
Property, plant and equipment, net	62,157	66,981	
Cash value of life insurance	8,609	14,943	
Deferred income taxes	55	55	
Other assets	497	449	
Discontinued operations	395	174	
Total assets	\$164,078	\$172,931	
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY Current liabilities:			
Revolving line of credit	\$18,315	\$16,127	
Accounts payable	14,181	11,421	
Accrued expenses and other liabilities	23,990	31,330	
Discontinued operations	485	950	
Total current liabilities	56,971	59,828	
Security bonus plan	16,435	18,837	
Financing lease obligation	10,416	10,786	
Deferred compensation	5,481	5,741	
Deferred rent liability	4,367	4,621	
Other liabilities	1,398	2,258	
Discontinued operations		127	
Total liabilities	95,068	102,198	
Stockholders' equity: Preferred stock, \$1 par value:			
Authorized - 500,000 shares, Issued and outstanding — None Common stock, \$1 par value:	_	_	
Authorized - 35,000,000 shares; Issued - 8,660,279 and 8,614,837 shares, respectively; Outstanding - 8,650,919 and 8,605,901 shares, respectively	8,660	8,615	
Capital in excess of par value	7,655	6,951	
Retained earnings	50,539	52,764	
Treasury stock – 9,360 and 8,936 shares, respectively	(159)	(155)	
Accumulated other comprehensive income	2,315	2,558	

Total stockholders' equity 69,010 70,733

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity \$164,078 \$172,931

See notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.

## Table of Contents

Lawson Products, Inc.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss)

(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

(Unaudited)

	Three Month 30,	s E	anded September	Nine Months 30,	Εı	nded Septeml	ber
Net sales	2013 \$68,235		2012 \$67,863	2013 \$203,765		2012 \$209,057	
Cost of goods sold	27,015		25,368	82,097		90,539	
Gross profit	41,220		42,495	121,668		118,518	
Operating expenses:							
Selling, general and administrative expenses	39,424		42,836	123,601		131,455	
Severance expense	962		1,410	964		8,180	
Gain on sale of assets	(36	)	(11)	(36	)	(2,133	)
Goodwill impairment	_		_			28,306	
	40,350		44,235	124,529		165,808	
Operating income (loss)	870		(1,740)	(2,861	)	(47,290	)
Interest expense	(365	)	(229 )	(799	)	(453	)
Other income (expenses), net	(19	)	23	(150	)	(73	)
Income (loss) from continuing operations before	486		(1,946 )	(3,810	)	(47,816	)
income taxes					,	•	,
Income tax expense (benefit)	303		(389)	(398	)	17,453	
Income (loss) from continuing operations	183			(3,412	)	(65,269	)
Discontinued operations, net of income taxes	418		239	1,187		996	
Net income (loss)	\$601		\$(1,318)	\$(2,225	)	\$(64,273	)
Basic and diluted income (loss) per share of common stock:							
Continuing operations	\$0.02		\$(0.18)	\$(0.40	)	\$(7.61	)
Discontinued operations	0.05		0.03	0.14	ĺ	0.12	
Net income (loss) per share	\$0.07		\$(0.15)	\$(0.26	)	\$(7.49	)
Basic weighted average shares outstanding Effect of dilutive securities outstanding	8,651 43		8,587	8,629		8,581	
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding	8,694		8,587	8,629		8,581	
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding	0,074		0,307	0,027		0,301	
Cash dividends declared per share of common stock	k \$—		<b>\$</b> —	<b>\$</b> —		\$0.24	
Comprehensive income (loss)							
Net income (loss)	\$601		\$(1,318)	\$(2,225	)	\$(64,273	)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax							
Adjustment for foreign currency translation	232		342	(243	)	531	
Net comprehensive income (loss)	\$833		\$(976)	\$(2,468	)	\$(63,742	)

See notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.

## Table of Contents

Lawson Products, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Dollars in thousands)
(Unaudited)

(Unaudited)	Nine Months 2013	Ended September 30, 2012	
Operating activities:			
Net loss	\$(2,225	) \$(64,273	)
Less income from discontinued operations	(1,187	) (996	)
Loss from continuing operations	(3,412	) (65,269	í
Loss from continuing operations	(3,412	) (03,20)	,
Adjustments to reconcile loss from continuing operations to net cash	used		
in operating activities:			
Depreciation and amortization	6,672	5,244	
Stock based compensation	1,705	(740	)
Gain on sale of assets	(36	) (2,133	)
Restricted cash	(800)	) —	
Deferred income taxes		17,538	
Goodwill impairment	_	28,306	
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:			
Accounts receivable	(2,923	) 5,385	
Inventories	(5	) 1,422	
Prepaid expenses and other assets	6,994	1,742	
Accounts payable and other liabilities	(9,522	) (4,155	)
Other	53	1,404	,
Net cash used in operating activities of continuing operations	(1,274	) (11,256	)
The cash does in operating act that of continuing operations	(1,27)	) (11,200	,
Investing activities:			
Additions to property, plant and equipment	(1,863	) (16,347	)
Proceeds from sale of assets	38	8,807	
Net proceeds related to sale of businesses		750	
Net cash used in investing activities of continuing operations	(1,825	) (6,790	)
	<b>、</b>	, , ,	,
Financing activities:	2 100	10.600	
Net proceeds from revolving line of credit	2,188	19,639	
Dividends paid	_	(3,086	)
Financing fees paid	_	(435	)
Net cash provided by financing activities of continuing operations	2,188	16,118	
Discontinued operations:			
Operating cash flows	(67	) 731	
Investing cash flows	(244	) (145	)
Net cash provided by (used in) discontinued operations	(311	) 586	,
rect cash provided by (used in) discontinued operations	(311	) 300	
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents	(1,222	) (1,342	)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period	1,640	2,116	
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period	\$418	\$774	
Cash and cash equivalents at one of portor	ψ110	ΨΙΙΤ	

See notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.

#### **Table of Contents**

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1 — Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements of Lawson Products, Inc. (the "Company") have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles for interim financial information, the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not contain all disclosures required by generally accepted accounting principles. Reference should be made to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012. In the opinion of the Company, all normal recurring adjustments have been made that are necessary to present fairly the results of operations for the interim periods. Operating results for the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2013 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the year ending December 31, 2013.

Following the discontinuance of the Company's Original Equipment Manufacturers ("OEM") segment (See Note 2 - Discontinued Operations), the Company operates in one reportable segment; the Maintenance, Repair and Operations ("MRO") segment as a distributor of products and services to the industrial, commercial, institutional, and governmental maintenance, repair and operations marketplace. The condensed consolidated financial statements have been reclassified for all prior periods presented to reflect current discontinued operations treatment. Such reclassifications have no effect on net income as previously reported.

The effect of restricted share awards and future stock option exercises equivalent to approximately 11,000 shares for the three months ended September 30, 2012 and approximately 52,000 and 34,000 shares for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively, would have been anti-dilutive and therefore were excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share.

There have been no material changes in the Company's significant accounting policies during the nine months ended September 30, 2013 as compared to the significant accounting policies described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012. The Company has determined that, except for entering into an Asset Purchase Agreement to sell Automatic Screw Machine Products Company, Inc. ("ASMP") (See Note 2 - Discontinued Operations), there were no other subsequent events to recognize or disclose in these condensed consolidated financial statements.

#### Note 2 — Discontinued Operations

On October 11, 2013, the Company entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement to sell substantially all of the assets of ASMP, a wholly owned subsidiary, to Nelson Stud Welding, Inc. ("Buyer"), an indirect subsidiary of Doncasters Group Limited, for a cash purchase price of \$12.5 million, subject to adjustments based on the closing date net working capital, plus the assumption of certain liabilities. In addition, the transaction contemplates that the Buyer will lease the real property located in Decatur, Alabama currently used by ASMP. The transaction is expected to close in the fourth quarter of 2013, subject to customary closing conditions, including Committee on Foreign Investment in the United States ("CFIUS") clearance. The Company has reclassified ASMP's operating results as discontinued operations for all periods presented.

#### **Table of Contents**

The following table details the components of income from discontinued operations:

	(Dollars in thousands)				
	Three Months Ended		Nine Months E	Ended September	
	September 30,		30,		
	2013	2012	2013	2012	
Net sales of ASMP	\$4,653	\$4,121	\$14,202	\$13,237	
Pre-tax income (loss) from discontinued operations					
ASMP	\$734	\$391	\$2,124	\$1,671	
Other discontinued operations		(3)	(33)	(33)	
Total pre-tax income	734	388	2,091	1,638	
Income tax expense	(316)	(149)	(904)	(642)	
Income from discontinued operations	\$418	\$239	\$1,187	\$996	
Basic and diluted income per share					
ASMP	\$0.05	\$0.03	\$0.14	\$0.12	
Other discontinued operations					
Total	\$0.05	\$0.03	\$0.14	\$0.12	

#### Note 3 — Restricted Cash

The Company has agreed to maintain \$0.8 million in a money market account as collateral for an outside party that is providing certain commercial card processing services for the Company. The Company is restricted from withdrawing this balance without the prior consent of the outside party during the term of the agreement.

#### Note 4 — Inventories, net

Inventories, consisting primarily of purchased goods which are offered for resale, were as follows:

	(Dollars in thousands)			
	September 30, 2013	December 31, 2012		
Inventories, gross	49,773	52,337		
Reserve for obsolete and excess inventory	(5,264)	(7,656)		
Inventories, net	\$44,509	\$44,681		

#### Note 5 — Loan Agreement

In 2012, the Company entered into a \$40.0 million Loan and Security Agreement ("Loan Agreement") which expires in August 2017. The Loan Agreement consists of a \$40.0 million revolving credit facility, which includes a \$10.0 million sub-facility for letters of credit. Until the later of June 30, 2014 or when the Company achieves certain financial covenants, credit available under the Loan Agreement is based upon:

- a) 80% of the face amount of the Company's eligible accounts receivable, generally less than 60 days past due, and
- b) the lesser of 50% of the lower of cost or market value of the Company's eligible inventory, which is generally inventory expected to be sold within 18 months, or \$20.0 million.

The applicable interest rates on borrowings under the Loan Agreement were either the Prime rate or the LIBOR rate plus 2.75% for the first year and LIBOR plus 2.50% for the second year of the agreement which began on August 8, 2013. Following the second year, the interest rate will be based on the Company's debt to EBITDA ratio and range

from LIBOR plus 1.25% to 1.85% or, if the Company elects, Prime minus 1.00% to 0.40%.

The Loan Agreement is secured by a first priority perfected security interest in substantially all the assets of the Company. Dividends are restricted under the Loan Agreement to amounts not to exceed \$1.1 million per quarter subject to a formula based on EBITDA achieved in the previous quarter compared to amounts specified in the Loan Agreement.

#### **Table of Contents**

In addition to other customary representations, warranties and covenants, the Loan Agreement requires the Company to comply with certain financial covenants. A minimum Consolidated EBITDA level, as defined in the Loan Agreement, must be achieved on a quarterly basis. On September 25, 2013, the Company entered into a First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement ("First Amendment") which established the future minimum EBITDA levels which must be achieved as detailed in the following table:

	Minimum EBITDA (as
Quarter Ended	Defined in the Loan
	Agreement)
September 30, 2013	\$2,000,000
December 31, 2013	3,000,000
March 31, 2014	3,500,000
June 30, 2014	3,500,000

For the period ended September 30, 2013, EBITDA, as defined in the Loan Agreement, was \$4.0 million which was in compliance with the minimum EBITDA covenant in effect on that date. The Company anticipates that the minimum required EBITDA for future quarters will be reduced to reflect the anticipated closing on the sale of ASMP.

Upon meeting certain financial covenants, but not prior to June 30, 2014, the availability under the Loan Agreement will be based upon the following covenants with a maximum borrowing level of \$40.0 million:

- Minimum Debt Service Coverage Ratio of not less than 1.20:1.00, measured quarterly beginning June 30, 2014, and building cumulatively to a rolling four quarters.
- Minimum Tangible Net Worth of not less than 90% of the value of shareholders' equity less intangible assets established as of June 30, 2014, tested quarterly.
- c) Minimum cash, accounts receivable and inventory to debt ratio of not less than 2.0 to 1.0.

At September 30, 2013, the Company had an outstanding balance of \$18.3 million under the revolving line of credit of the Loan Agreement and additional borrowing availability of \$17.5 million. The Company paid interest of \$0.8 million and \$0.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The weighted average interest rate was 3.0% through the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and the outstanding balance approximates fair value.

## Note 6 — Severance Reserve

Changes in the Company's reserve for severance as of September 30, 2013 and 2012 were as follows:

	(Dollars in thousands)					
	Nine Months Ended September 30,					
	2013	2012				
Balance at beginning of period	\$4,417	\$1,282				
Charged to earnings	964	8,180				
Payments	(2,440)	(3,938	)			
Balance at end of period	\$2,941	\$5,524				

Accrued severance charges are included in the following line items of the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets:

(Dollars in thousands)	
September 30,	December 31,
2013	2012

Accrued expenses and other liabilities	\$2,762	\$3,467
Other liabilities	179	950
Total accrued severance	\$2,941	\$4,417

#### **Table of Contents**

#### Note 7 — Stock Based Compensation

The Company recorded expense related to stock based compensation of approximately \$1.7 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and recorded a benefit of \$0.7 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2012. A summary of stock based awards issued during the nine months ended September 30, 2013 follows:

#### Stock Performance Rights ("SPRs")

The Company issued 148,301 SPRs to key employees with an average exercise price of \$12.20 per share. The SPRs issued in 2013 cliff vest on December 31, 2015 and have a termination date of December 31, 2020.

## Market Stock Units ("MSUs")

The Company issued 64,199 MSUs to key employees with a vesting date of December 31, 2015. MSU's are exchangeable for the Company's common shares at the end of the vesting period. The number of shares of common stock that will be issued upon vesting, ranging from zero to 94,074, will be determined based upon the trailing thirty-day average closing price of the Company's common stock on December 31, 2015.

## Note 8 — Income Taxes

Primarily due to the cumulative losses that the Company recorded over the past three years, the Company determined that it was more likely than not that it will not be able to utilize its deferred tax assets to offset future taxable income. Therefore, substantially all deferred tax assets are subject to a tax valuation allowance until the Company can establish that the recoverability of its deferred tax assets is more likely than not to be realized. Although the Company is in a full tax valuation allowance position, a tax benefit of \$0.4 million was recorded in continuing operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2013, primarily due to the allocation of tax expenses between continuing and discontinued operations.

The Company and its subsidiaries are subject to U.S. Federal income tax, as well as income tax of multiple state and foreign jurisdictions. As of September 30, 2013, the Company is subject to U.S. Federal income tax examinations for the years 2010 through 2012 and income tax examinations from various other jurisdictions for the years 2006 through 2012. The Company is also currently under examination by the Canada Revenue Authority ("CRA") for the years 2006 through 2010. The CRA issued a preliminary audit proposal on May 2, 2013, proposing increases to taxable income of \$3.4 million Canadian dollars for the tax years 2008 and 2009. No adjustments were proposed for 2006, 2007 or 2010. The Company plans to aggressively contest these assessments and believes that it is more likely than not that the Company will eventually prevail in this matter.

Earnings from the Company's foreign subsidiaries are considered to be indefinitely reinvested. A distribution of these non-U.S. earnings in the form of dividends or otherwise would subject the Company to both U.S. Federal and state income taxes, as adjusted for foreign tax credits.

## Note 9 — Contingent Liabilities

## Employment tax matter

One of the Company's subsidiaries, Drummond American LLC ("Drummond"), is under an employment tax examination for the years 2007 and 2008 of the long-standing treatment of its sales representatives as independent contractors. In January 2012 the Company received a Notice of Proposed Adjustment in the amount of \$9.5 million, including penalties, from the IRS challenging Drummond's position that the sales representatives were independent contractors. The Company disagreed with the IRS position and filed an administrative appeal with the IRS Appeals Office.

Although the Company intends to vigorously defend its position for the treatment of its sales representatives as independent contractors, the Company established a liability of \$1.2 million during 2011 as its best estimate of the cost to resolve the matter with the IRS. The Company has maintained this liability throughout 2012 and 2013. The notice of Proposed Adjustment was determined by applying the full statutory rates and penalties, rather than applying the reduced tax rates provided by section 3509 of the Internal Revenue Code. The Company believes the use of reduced tax rates is mandatory for all IRS worker classification assessments, except when the employer intentionally disregarded its employment tax obligations. Because the Company believes it fully complied with its employment tax obligations, the Company based its estimated liability at the reduced tax rates. The Company applied these reduced tax rates against only one year because any settlement resolution would likely be limited to one year as this is consistent with the IRS's settlement practices. The Company has assessed its potential exposure for other subsidiaries and time periods and has concluded that an additional liability is not probable. No adjustment has been proposed by the IRS for any other time periods or subsidiaries of the Company.

#### **Table of Contents**

The case has been assigned to the Chicago Appeals Office. The Company is unable to establish an estimated time frame in which the case will be resolved through the appeals process. An unfavorable outcome of this matter could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial condition and results of operations.

#### **Environmental matters**

In 2012, the Company identified that a site owned by its ASMP subsidiary in Alabama contained hazardous substances in the soil and groundwater as a result of historical operations prior to the Company's ownership. This site is not part of the sale under the Asset Purchase Agreement described in Note 2 - Discontinued Operations. The Company has retained an environmental consulting firm to further investigate the contamination, including the measurement and monitoring of the site. At this time insufficient data regarding the situation have been collected to reasonably estimate the cost, if any, of remediating this situation. Accordingly, the Company has not established a reserve for any remediation costs.

#### Note 10 — Gain on sale of assets

During the nine months ended September 30, 2012, in conjunction with the construction of the new distribution center in McCook, Illinois and the relocation of the Company's headquarters to Chicago, Illinois, the Company sold three properties; its Addison, Illinois distribution center, its Vernon Hills, Illinois distribution center and a Des Plaines, Illinois administrative building. The Company received cash proceeds of \$8.8 million for the sale of the three facilities, resulting in a gain of \$2.1 million.

#### Note 11 — Goodwill Impairment

During the second quarter of 2012, the Company evaluated goodwill for potential impairment by determining if certain qualitative events had occurred or if circumstances had changed that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying value. As a result of this evaluation, the Company identified indicators of impairment related to operating losses and reduced market capitalization and, therefore, performed an interim impairment test of goodwill.

The Company estimated the fair value of the MRO reporting unit using a discounted cash flow analysis based on its current internal operating forecast to determine the reporting unit's fair value. After completing the analysis, the Company concluded that the entire amount of the goodwill was impaired and a non-cash charge of \$28.3 million was recorded in the second quarter of 2012.

Goodwill activity for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 was as follows:

·	Three Months Ended		Nine Months Ended Septe		
	September 30,		30,		
	2013	2012	2013	2012	
Beginning balance	\$—	\$—	\$—	\$28,148	
Impairment loss		_	_	(28,306)	
Translation adjustment	_	_	_	158	
Ending balance	<b>\$</b> —	<b>\$</b> —	<b>\$</b> —	<b>\$</b> —	

#### Note 12 — Non-Cash Items

During the nine months ended September 30, 2012, the Company recorded an \$8.0 million increase in property, plant and equipment, along with a corresponding increase in liabilities, related to the financing lease obligation associated with the McCook, Illinois distribution center. These non-cash increases have been excluded from the Condensed

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

#### **Table of Contents**

# ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

#### Overview

Following the discontinuance of our Original Equipment Manufacturers ("OEM") segment (See Note 2 - Discontinued Operations), we now operate in one reportable segment: the Maintenance, Repair and Operations ("MRO") segment as a distributor of products and services to the industrial, commercial, institutional, and governmental maintenance, repair and operations marketplace. Certain reclassifications have been made to prior period amounts to conform to current period presentation. Such reclassifications have no effect on net income as previously reported.

The MRO industry is highly fragmented. We compete for business with several national distributors as well as a large number of regional and local distributors. The MRO business is significantly influenced by the overall strength of the manufacturing sector of the U.S. economy. One measure used to evaluate the strength of the industrial products market is the Purchasing Managers Index ("PMI") published by the Institute for Supply Management. A measure above 50% generally indicates expansion of the manufacturing sector while a measure below 50% represents contraction. The average monthly PMI was 55.8 in the third quarter of 2013 compared to 50.9 in the third quarter of 2012 indicating an increase in the U.S. manufacturing growth rate from a year ago.

Our sales are also affected by the number of sales representatives and the amount of sales which each representative can generate, which we measure as average sales per day per sales representative. In 2013, we have focused on increasing the number of sales representatives, adding 11 net new sales representatives in the third quarter of 2013 to a total of 784 at September 30, 2013. We have a goal of increasing this total to over 800 active sales representatives by the end of 2013 and plan to continue to aggressively expand our sales force in 2014. While we anticipate future sales growth from our expanded sales force, we also anticipate a short-term decrease in average sales per day per sales representative, as new representatives build up customer relationships in their territories.

#### **Table of Contents**

Quarter ended September 30, 2013 compared to quarter ended September 30, 2012

A summary of our financial performance for the three months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 is presented below:

	2013			2012			
(\$ in thousands)	Amount	% of Net Sales		Amount		% of Net Sales	
Net sales	\$68,235	100.0	%	\$67,863		100.0	%
Cost of goods sold	27,015	39.6	%	25,368		37.4	%
Gross profit	41,220	60.4	%	42,495		62.6	%
Operating expenses:							
Selling, general and administrative expenses:							
Selling expenses	21,305	31.2	%	20,317		29.9	%
General and administrative expenses	18,119	26.6	%	22,519		33.2	%
Total SG&A	39,424	57.8	%	42,836		63.1	%
Severance expense	962	1.4	%	1,410		2.1	%
Gain on sale of assets	(36	) (0.1	)%	(11	)		%
Total operating expenses	40,350	59.1	%	44,235		65.2	%
Operating income (loss)	870	1.3	%	(1,740	)	(2.6	)%
Other expenses, net	(384	) (0.6	)%	(206	)	(0.3	)%
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes	486	0.7	%	(1,946	)	(2.9	)%
Income tax expense (benefit)	303	0.4	%	(389	)	(0.6	)%
Income (loss) from continuing operations	\$183	0.3	%	\$(1,557	)	(2.3	)%

#### **Net Sales**

Net sales for the third quarter of 2013 increased to \$68.2 million from \$67.9 million in the third quarter of 2012 which included one less selling day. Excluding the Canadian exchange rate impact, net sales increased 1.0% for the quarter. Average daily sales decreased slightly to \$1.066 million in the third quarter of 2013 compared to \$1.077 million in the prior year quarter. The decrease was primarily due to a decline of \$1.6 million in governmental sales and a 1.2% decline in average daily sales per sales representative, as newly hired sales representatives are in the early stages of building up customer relationships in their territories.

#### **Gross Profit**

Gross profit decreased 3.0% in the third quarter of 2013, to \$41.2 million from \$42.5 million in the prior year period and decreased as a percent of net sales to 60.4% from 62.6% a year ago. The year ago quarter benefited from the sell through of previously discontinued products. We anticipate that our gross margin percentage may be under pressure in the future as we continue to increase the penetration of national accounts in our customer mix and on-going competitive pressures.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling Expenses

Selling expenses consist of commissions paid to our sales representatives and related expenses to support our sales efforts. Selling expenses increased \$1.0 million to \$21.3 million in the third quarter of 2013 from \$20.3 million in the prior year quarter. As a percent of net sales, selling expenses increased to 31.2% in the third quarter of 2013 compared to 29.9% in the third quarter of 2012, primarily due to hiring new sales representatives and increased health insurance costs of \$0.7 million.

#### **Table of Contents**

## General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist of expenses to operate our distribution network and overhead expenses to manage the business. General and administrative expenses decreased \$4.4 million to \$18.1 million in the third quarter of 2013 from \$22.5 million in the prior year quarter as we continue to focus on cost control measures. The decrease was primarily driven by a reduction of \$3.1 million in employee compensation, including employee incentives, and a decrease of \$1.6 million in consulting expenses, partially offset by a \$0.6 million increase in temporary labor, primarily to support the transition of operations to the McCook distribution center.

#### Severance Expense

A \$1.0 million severance expense was recorded in the third quarter of 2013, primarily related to various organizational restructurings. The \$1.4 million severance expense recorded in the third quarter of 2012 primarily related to the retirement of our former President and Chief Executive Officer.

## Other Expenses, Net

Other expenses, net of \$0.4 million and \$0.2 million for the three months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively, consist primarily of interest charged on the outstanding borrowings under our Loan Agreement.

## Income Tax Expense (Benefit)

Primarily due to historical cumulative losses, substantially all of our deferred tax assets are subject to a tax valuation allowance. Although we are in a full tax valuation allowance position, a \$0.3 million income tax expense and a \$0.4 million income tax benefit were recorded for the three months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively, primarily due to the allocation of income tax between continuing and discontinued operations.

## Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations

We reported income from continuing operations of \$0.2 million in the third quarter of 2013 compared to a loss from continuing operations of \$1.6 million in the third quarter of 2012.

#### **Table of Contents**

Nine months ended September 30, 2013 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2012

A summary of our financial performance for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012 is presented below:

	2013			2012			
(\$ in thousands)	Amount	% of Net Sales		Amount		% of Net Sales	
Net sales	\$203,765	100.0	%	\$209,057		100.0	%
Cost of goods sold	82,097	40.3	%	90,539		43.3	%
Gross profit	121,668	59.7	%	118,518		56.7	%
Operating expenses:							
Selling, general and administrative expenses:							
Selling expenses	63,530	31.2	%	62,189		29.8	%
General and administrative expenses	60,071	29.5	%	69,266		33.1	%
Total SG&A	123,601	60.7	%	131,455		62.9	%
Severance expense	964	0.4	%	8,180		3.9	%
Gain on sale of assets	(36	) —	%	(2,133	)	(1.0	)%
Goodwill impairment	<del></del>	<u> </u>	%	28,306		13.5	%
Total operating expenses	124,529	61.1	%	165,808		79.3	%
Operating loss	(2,861	) (1.4	)%	(47,290	)	(22.6	)%
Other expenses, net	(949	) (0.5	)%	(526	)	(0.3	)%
Loss from continuing operations before income taxes	(3,810	) (1.9	)%	(47,816	)	(22.9	)%
Income tax expense (benefit)	(398	) (0.2	)%	17,453		8.3	%
Loss from continuing operations	\$(3,412	) (1.7	)%	\$(65,269	)	(31.2	)%

#### Net Sales

Net sales for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 decreased 2.5% to \$203.8 million from \$209.1 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2012. Excluding the Canadian exchange rate impact, net sales decreased 2.3% compared to the same period last year. The \$5.3 million decrease in sales was primarily due to a decrease in sales coverage in certain areas due to a 6% decrease in the average number of sales representatives compared to a year ago, primarily in the first half of the year and lower government sales of \$4.1 million compared to the same period last year. This decrease was partially offset by a 3% increase in average daily sales per sales representative over the prior year period. Average daily sales decreased 2.6% to \$1.067 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2013 compared to \$1.095 million in the first nine months of 2012.

#### **Gross Profit**

Gross profit increased 2.7% in the first nine months of 2013 to \$121.7 million from \$118.5 million in the prior year period and increased as a percent of net sales to 59.7% from 56.7% a year ago. The improved gross margin was primarily driven by lower outbound freight costs and lower reserves for excess and obsolete inventory, as 2012 included a one-time \$3.9 million charge specifically related to discontinuing certain products. We anticipate that our

gross margin percentage may be under pressure in the future as we continue to increase the penetration of national accounts in our customer mix and on-going competitive pressures.

#### **Table of Contents**

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

## Selling Expenses

Selling expenses increased \$1.3 million to \$63.5 million in the first nine months of 2013 from \$62.2 million in the prior year period. Selling expenses as a percent of net sales increased to 31.2% in the nine months ended September 30, 2013 compared to 29.8% in the first nine months of 2012, primarily due to increased health insurance costs of \$2.2 million and \$1.2 million of expenses related to our first quarter 2013 national sales meeting, partially offset by variable cost savings due to decreased sales.

#### General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses decreased \$9.2 million to \$60.1 million in the first nine months of 2013 from \$69.3 million in the prior year period. The decrease was driven by actions taken in the first half of 2012 to reduce costs, primarily by a reduction in employee headcount and outside services, partially offset by a \$2.4 million increase in stock based compensation.

## Severance Expense

A \$1.0 million severance expense was recorded in the nine months ended September 30, 2013, primarily related to various organizational restructurings. The severance expense recorded in the nine months ended September 30, 2012 of \$8.2 million related to the elimination of corporate and distribution positions, as a result of a strategic restructuring plan, and the retirement of our former President and Chief Executive Officer.

#### Gain on Sale of Assets

During the nine months ended September 30, 2012, in conjunction with the construction of a new distribution center in McCook, Illinois and the relocation of our headquarters to Chicago, Illinois, we sold three properties: our Addison, Illinois distribution center, our Vernon Hills, Illinois distribution center and a Des Plaines, Illinois administrative building. We received cash proceeds of \$8.8 million for the sale of the three facilities which resulted in a gain of \$2.1 million.

#### Goodwill Impairment

During the second quarter of 2012, we assessed the fair value of the \$28.3 million goodwill balance. Based on this assessment, we determined that the full amount of the goodwill was impaired and recorded a non-cash charge of \$28.3 million.

## Other Expenses, Net

Other expenses, net of \$0.9 million and \$0.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively, consist primarily of interest charged on the outstanding borrowings under our Loan Agreement.

## Income Tax Expense (Benefit)

Principally due to historical cumulative losses, substantially all of our deferred tax assets are subject to a tax valuation allowance. Although we are in a full tax valuation allowance position, a \$0.4 million income tax benefit was recorded for the nine months ended September 30, 2013, primarily due to the allocation of income tax expenses between continuing and discontinued operations. For the nine months ended September 30, 2012, the income tax expense was

\$17.5 million on a pre-tax loss of \$47.8 million. The 2012 income tax expense included \$33.6 million related to the application of a valuation allowance on the Company's deferred tax assets.

## Loss from Continuing Operations

We reported a loss from continuing operations of \$3.4 million, or \$0.40 per diluted share, in the first nine months of 2013 compared to a loss from continuing operations of \$65.3 million, or \$7.61 per diluted share, in the first nine months of 2012. The 2012 loss was primarily due to the impairment of goodwill, the establishment of a deferred tax valuation allowance, severance expense and additional inventory reserves associated with discontinued products.

#### **Table of Contents**

#### Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash and cash equivalents were \$0.4 million on September 30, 2013 compared to \$1.6 million on December 31, 2012. Net cash used in continuing operations of \$1.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 was primarily used to fund an increase in accounts receivable of \$2.9 million, reflecting increased sales during the third quarter compared to the fourth quarter of 2012, as well as a decrease in accounts payable and other liabilities. The \$11.3 million of net cash used in operations in the first nine months of 2012 was primarily due to operating losses.

Capital expenditures were \$1.9 million in the first nine months of 2013 compared to \$16.3 million in the first nine months of 2012. Capital expenditures in the first nine months of 2013 were primarily for warehouse equipment to support the opening of the McCook, Illinois distribution center and improvements to our sales order entry system and redesigned web-site. Capital expenditures in the first nine months of 2012 were primarily for warehouse equipment to support the McCook facility, the build-out of the new leased headquarters and expenditures related to our web-site redevelopment.

Net cash provided by financing activities included net borrowings of \$2.2 million and \$19.6 million in the first nine months of 2013 and 2012, respectively, primarily to support working capital requirements and capital expenditures. No dividends were paid to shareholders in the first nine months of 2013 compared to \$3.1 million of dividends paid in the first nine months of 2012. Dividends are restricted under the Loan Agreement to amounts not to exceed \$1.1 million per quarter subject to a formula based on EBITDA achieved in the previous quarter compared to target amounts specified in the Loan Agreement.

#### Loan Agreement

In addition to other customary representations, warranties and covenants, the Loan Agreement and subsequent Amendment requires us to comply with certain financial covenants. A minimum Consolidated EBITDA level, as defined in the Loan Agreement, must be achieved on a quarterly basis as detailed in the following table:

William EBITE!
(as Defined in the
Loan Agreement)
\$2,000,000
3,000,000
3,500,000
3,500,000

At September 30, 2013, EBITDA, as defined in the Loan Agreement, was \$4.0 million which was in compliance with the minimum EBITDA covenant in effect on that date. The Company anticipates that the minimum required EBITDA for future quarters will be reduced to reflect the anticipated closing on the sale of ASMP.

While the Company exceded its minimum EBITDA requirement for the quarter ended September 30, 2013, failure to meet these covenant requirements in future quarters could lead to higher financing costs, increased restrictions, or reduce or eliminate our ability to borrow funds. If we require more liquidity than is currently available to us under our Loan Agreement, we may need to raise additional funds through debt or equity offerings which may not be available when needed or may not be available on terms favorable to us. Should funding be insufficient at any time in the future, we may be unable to develop or enhance our products or services, take advantage of business opportunities or respond to competitive pressures, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Minimum EBITDA

At September 30, 2013, we had an outstanding balance of \$18.3 million under the revolving line of credit of our Loan Agreement and additional borrowing availability of \$17.5 million. We believe cash provided by operations, funds available under our Loan Agreement and anticipated proceeds from the sale of ASMP are sufficient to fund our operating requirements, strategic initiatives and capital improvements throughout the remainder of 2013.

#### **Table of Contents**

## ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

There have been no material changes in market risk at September 30, 2013 from that reported in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012.

#### ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Under the supervision and with the participation of our senior management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), as of the end of the period covered by this report (the "Evaluation Date"). Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded as of the Evaluation Date that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective such that (i) the information relating to Lawson, including our consolidated subsidiaries, required to be disclosed in our SEC reports is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms, and (ii) include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

There was no change in the Company's internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended September 30, 2013 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company's internal control over financial reporting.

## **Table of Contents**

## PART II

OTHER INFORMATION

ITEMS 1, 1A, 2, 3, 4 and 5 of Part II are inapplicable and have been omitted from this report.

ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

## Exhibit #

31.1	Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
31.2	Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to
	Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32	Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as
	adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
101.INS	XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

## **Table of Contents**

## **SIGNATURES**

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

LAWSON PRODUCTS, INC.

(Registrant)

Dated: October 24, 2013 /s/ Michael G. DeCata

Michael G. DeCata

President and Chief Executive Officer

(principal executive officer)

Dated: October 24, 2013 /s/ Ronald J. Knutson

Ronald J. Knutson

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

(principal financial and accounting officer)